IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

D.P. HOLMES TRUCKING, LLC

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NUMBER: 2011-IA-953

LESTER BUTLER

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF MOTIONS TO DISMISS OR ALTERNATIVELY FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND TO STRIKE BY THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COPIAH COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT D.P. HOLMES TRUCKING, LLC

Lanny R. Pace, MSB # Constraints J. Seth McCoy, MSB # STEEN DALEHITE & PACE, LLP Post Office Box 900 Jackson, MS 39205-0900 Tel: 601/969-7054 Fax: 601/353-3782

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

D.P. HOLMES TRUCKING, LLC

APPELLANT

CASE # 2011-IA-953

VS.

LESTER BUTLER

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
V.	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 5		
VI.	ARGUMENT		
	T	Did the Circuit Court of Conjah County err as a matter of law when it classified the	

- I. Did the Circuit Court of Copiah County err as a matter of law when it classified the attempted amendments of the original complaint in this matter by the plaintiff/appellee as a "party name" error and analyzed the present situation under the doctrine of misnomer?
- II. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in denying the defendant/appellant's motion to dismiss or alternatively for summary judgment with regard to plaintiff/appellee's "first" amended complaint, when such should have been granted based on the Mississippi Supreme Court's ruling in *Doe v. Mississippi Blood Services* and *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 9(h)*, and the fact that the complaint was filed outside the applicable statute of limitations?
- III. Did the Copiah County Circuit Court err as a matter of law when it denied defendant/appellant's motion to strike plaintiff/appellee's "purported second" amended complaint pursuant to *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 15?*
- IV. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in denying the defendant/appellant's motion to dismiss or alternatively for summary judgment with regard to plaintiff/appellee's "purported second" amended complaint, when such should have been granted based on the Mississippi Supreme Court's ruling in *Doe v. Mississippi Blood Services* and *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 9(h)* and the fact that the complaint was filed outside the applicable statute of limitations?

<i>L</i> 1	CERTEICATE OF SERVICE	шЛ
st	CONCENSION	.IIV

2

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

	Page Nos.
<u>A.</u>	CASES
	Anderson v. ALPS Automotive, Inc. 51 So. 3d 929, 933 (Miss. 2010)
	Bruno v. Southeastern Services, Inc., 385 So. 2d. 620 (Miss. 1980)
	Doe v. Miss. Blood Services, Inc. 704 So. 2d 1016 (Miss. 1997). 5, 6, 9, 10, 11, 14, 15, 16
	Seymour v. Brunswick Corp., 655 So. 2d 892 (Miss. 1995)
	<i>Trucking Service, Inc. v. Miss. Sand and Gravel, Inc., 433 So. 2d 321, 323-24 (Miss. 1986)</i>
	<i>Williamson ex rel. Williamson v. Keith</i> , 786 So. 2d 390, 393, (Miss. 2001) 6
	<i>Womble v. Singing River Hosp.</i> , 618 So. 2d 1252, 1266-68 (Miss. 1993) 10, 11, 12

B. STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES

Miss. R. Civ. P. 9(h)
Miss. R. Civ. P. 60
Miss. R. Civ. P. 15 5, 6, 14, 16
Miss. R. Civ. P. 15 (a)
Miss. R. Civ. P. 56 (c)
Miss. Code Ann. § 15- 1- 49
Miss. Code Ann. § 79- 29-101
Miss. Code § 79-29-108
Miss. Code § 79-29-117

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Did the Circuit Court of Copiah County err as a matter of law when it classified the attempted amendments of the original complaint in this matter by the plaintiff/appellee as a "party name" error and analyzed the present situation under the doctrine of misnomer?
- II. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in denying the defendant/appellant's motion to dismiss or alternatively for summary judgment with regard to plaintiff/appellee's "first" amended complaint, when such should have been granted based on the Mississippi Supreme Court's ruling in *Doe v. Mississippi Blood Services* and *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 9(h)*, and the fact that the complaint was filed outside the applicable statute of limitations?
- III. Did the Copiah County Circuit Court err as a matter of law when it denied defendant/appellant's motion to strike plaintiff/appellee's "purported second" amended complaint pursuant to *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 15?*
- IV. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in denying the defendant/appellant's motion to dismiss or alternatively for summary judgment with regard to plaintiff/appellee's "purported second" amended complaint, when such should have been granted based on the Mississippi Supreme Court's ruling in *Doe v. Mississippi Blood Services* and *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 9(h)* and the fact that the complaint was filed outside the applicable statute of limitations?

-1-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises out of a May 9, 2003, accident involving a vehicle driven by the Plaintiff/Appellee Lester Butler and a truck driven by Tommy Jones. The Plaintiff/Appellee filed his original Complaint on April 18, 2006. The complaint named "David Holmes" and "John Does 1-5" as defendants. [*R. 8-11/X. 1-4*]¹ The complaint further alleged that Tommy T. Jones was "an employee, agent and servant of the defendant David Holmes. . . . "[R. 8-9/X. 1-2]. David Holmes was served with process and timely answered Butler's Complaint. [R. 14-17/X. 5-8]

The answer filed by David Holmes specifically denied that Tommy Jones was employed by David Holmes. [R. 14-15/X. 5-6] Furthermore, David Holmes' answer alleged that the Plaintiff/Appellee's complaint failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. [R. 14/X. 5]

Butler did not take any depositions and he propounded no written discovery to David Holmes during the course of the litigation. The trial was set for March 17, 2009. In January 2009, the parties jointly prepared a draft pre-trial order to submit to the Copiah County Circuit Court. David Holmes' portion of the pre-trial order specifically listed as a contested issue of fact "whether Tommy Jones was an agent or employee of David Holmes." [Supp.R. 120-125/X. 9-14]

The trial of this matter was continued to March 18, 2009 due to an illness in the circuit clerk's office. In a telephonic hearing conducted on March 17, 2009 at the request of the plaintiff to discuss the issue of the true employer of Tommy Jones, the trial court continued the trial and granted plaintiff/Appellee permission to file a motion to amend his complaint. The Plaintiff filed his

¹ "R." refers to the citation in the record while "X" refers to the record excerpt cite

motion for substitution of parties or in alternative amendment of the complaint, on March 19, 2009.

[R. 20-24/X. 15-19] Plaintiff/Appellee's motion sought "leave to amend the complaint substituting as a party defendant D.P. Holmes, LLC" or "to amend the Complaint filed herein to name the defendant, D.P. Holmes, LLC, in the place and stead of David Holmes and/or as John Doe 1 defendant". Such a motion would necessarily have to be made under *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 9(h)*. David Holmes responded to said motion on March 31, 2009. [Supp.R. 116-119/X. 20-23]

At the November 23, 2009 hearing of the Plaintiff/Appellee's motion, the trial court ruled that the plaintiff/appellee could amend his complaint to join D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC as a party and that D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC would be availed to any and all defenses arising from the filing of the amended complaint.

Despite repeated requests by defendant/appellant for plaintiff/appellee to prepare and submit the appropriate order, such was not done until August 2, 2010, which was approximately *nine* months after the hearing on August 2, 2010. [R. 55-58/X. 24-27]The order was entered by the Circuit Court on August 11, 2010. [R. 29-30/X. 28-29]

The plaintiff/appellee did not actually file his "first" amended complaint naming D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC as the defendant until *six* months later on February 11, 2011. **[R. 31-34/X 30-33]** This first amended complaint filed by plaintiff/appellee simply replaced the original named defendant "David Holmes" with "D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC" and cited *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 9(h)* for this substitution. **[R. 31/X. 30]**

After the plaintiff/appellee filed his first amended complaint, defendant/appellant D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC answered the complaint and contemporaneously moved for dismissal or alternatively for summary judgment due to the fact that the plaintiff's first amended complaint improperly removed the named defendant "David Holmes" and replaced him with "D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC" and further that such was filed outside the appropriate statute of limitations, which was not tolled pursuant to *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 9(h)*. **[R. 35-40/X. 34-39] and [R.41-48/X. 40-47]**

After the filing of D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC's Motion to Dismiss or Alternatively for Summary Judgment, and without receiving the required permission from the Copiah County Circuit Court, the Plaintiff/Appellee filed another complaint, hereafter referred to as Plaintiff/Appellee's "purported second amended complaint." This purported second amended complaint simply added "D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC" as a named defendant in addition to "David Holmes" and kept all the "John Doe" defendants. [**R.51-54/X. 48-51**]

In response, D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC filed another motion to dismiss or alternatively for summary judgment and filed a motion to strike with regard to Plaintiff/Appellee's improperly filed purported second amended complaint as well. [*R.55-59/X. 52-56*]

On June 17, 2011, the trial court entered an order denying D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC's motions for summary judgment and motion to strike. **[R.100-101/X. 60-61]** In its order, the Court classified the amendment of the complaint to change the named defendant "David Holmes" to "D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC" as a misnomer or "party name error" and further indicated that the Defendant/Appellant was not prejudiced by the amended complaint. **[R.100/X. 60]**

Defendant/Appellant D.P. Holmes, LLC petitioned for, and was granted permission from this Honorable Court to file an interlocutory appeal. [R. 102/X. 62]

-4-

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred as a matter of law when it classified the attempted amendment of the complaint by the plaintiff/appellee in this case, as a misnomer or "party name error. The present situation involves an attempt to join a new party as a defendant after the expiration of the statute of limitations through an amended complaint. The "party name error" theory as relied upon by the trial court in its order is based on *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 60* which addresses correcting clerical errors in judgments, which is of no moment in this case. As such the trial court's order is clearly erroneous as a matter of law.

The trial court further erred in denying Defendant/Appellant's motion to dismiss or alternatively for summary judgment with regard to the first amended complaint. The three year statute of limitations in this matter began to run on the date of the accident on May 9, 2003 and had long expired when the Plaintiff/Appellee filed their first amended complaint replacing "David Holmes" with "D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC" as a defendant. The Plaintiff/Appellee's attempted amendment wherein he simply replaced "David Holmes" with "D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC" and maintained the same "John Doe 1-5" defendants is improper based on this Court's ruling in *Doe v. Mississippi Blood Services*. Further the amendment must be analyzed under the "reasonable diligence" standard pursuant to *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 9(h)*, and it is clear that the Plaintiff did not meet that standard. Consequently, *Rule 9(h)*'s tolling provision was not applicable. Defendant/Appellant's motion should have been granted as a matter of law and the cause dismissed.

Finally, the trial court erred in denying Defendant/Appellant's motion to strike Plaintiff/Appellee's purported second amended complaint pursuant to *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 15.* The Plaintiff/Appellee filed his purported second amended complaint *after*

-5-

Defendant/Appellant filed an answer and motion to dismiss with regard to the first amended complaint. Furthermore, the Plaintiff/Appellee did not obtain leave of court to amend his complaint a second time.

The trial court further erred in denying Defendant/Appellant's motion to dismiss or alternatively for summary judgment with regard to plaintiff/appellee's purported second amended complaint. Even apart from its impropriety under *Rule 15*, the purported second amended complaint should have been dismissed, just like the first amended compliant, under the Mississippi Supreme Court's ruling in *Doe v. Mississippi Blood Services* and *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 9(h)*.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

The appellate standard for reviewing the grant or denial of summary judgment is the same standard as that of the trial court under *Rule 56 (c)* of the *Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure*. This court employs a *de novo* standard of review of a lower court's grant or denial of summary judgment and examines all the evidentiary matters before it: admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc. *Williamson ex rel. Williamson v. Keith*, 786 So. 2d 390, 393 (Miss. 2001). Further, the Court's denial of defendant's motion to strike the purported second amended complaint involves a question of law with regard to whether the filing of such complaint violated *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 15* and as such should be reviewed under the same *de novo* standard. *Seymour v. Brunswick Corporation*, 655 So.2d 892 (Miss.1995) (holding generally that questions of law are reviewed *de novo*).

I. The Circuit Court of Copiah County erred as a matter of law in classifying the amendment of the complaint attempted by the plaintiff/appellee as a "misnomer" and a "party name error."

In its order denying Defendant/Appellant's motions for summary judgment and motion to strike the Circuit Court classified the matter before the court as one of a simple "misnomer" or party name error. [R. 100-101/X. 60-61]

In support of its position, the trial court stated in its order that "the Mississippi Supreme Court has long recognized that the doctrine of misnomer allows parties to correct 'party name' errors at any stage of the proceedings if doing so would not result in prejudice". The court cited "*Trucking Service*, *Inc. v. Miss. Sand and Gravel, Inc.*, 433 So.2d 321, 323-24 (Miss.1986)²" in support of its decision. **[R. 100/X. 60]**

The trial court erred as a matter of law in its reliance on the above referenced case and in its classification of the instant situation as a party name error.

As an initial matter, the present situation involves the attempted amendment of a complaint to change the *party* being sued by the plaintiff/appellee long after the statute of limitations for the cause of action has expired, whereas the *Southern Trucking Service* case dealt with a situation where the circuit court was allowed to correct a default judgment because of a clerical mistake in the *name* contained in the judgment.

In *Southern Trucking*, the Mississippi Supreme Court analyzed the situation, under *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 60*, which deals with the court's inherent power to correct clerical errors in judgments, and allowed a change in the style of a judgment from "Mississippi Sand & Gravel, Inc." to the correct "South Mississippi Sand & Gravel, Inc."

The situation present in the case at bar is clearly distinguishable from Southern Trucking in

² The correct citation for the case is actually Southern Trucking Service, Inc. v. Miss. Sand and Gravel, Inc., 483 So.2d 321 (Miss.1986)

that the present case deals with a motion for summary judgment based on the addition of a new party, after the expiration of the statute of limitations, not the correction of a judgment already entered pursuant to *Rule 60*.

Secondly, *Southern Trucking*, presented a situation where a company's name was changed from the incorrect "Mississippi Gravel & Sand, Inc." to the correct "Southern Mississippi Gravel & Sand, Inc." The present situation is clearly distinguishable in that it is not simply a name change sought in the amended complaint, but rather the insertion of an entirely different and separate party and entity as the defendant, after the expiration of the statute of limitations.

To hold that an individual defendant "David Holmes" could suddenly be replaced by a registered limited liability company, "D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC," would void the foundation of the Mississippi Limited Liability Company Act as it existed at the relevant time period. *See* Miss. Code § 79-29-101 *et. seq*³ (amended January 1, 2011). A limited liability company, much like a corporation, and an individual are two totally separate and distinct entities with separate legal rights and potential liabilities. Miss. Code § 79-29-108⁴ (amended January 1, 2011); *see also Bruno v. Southeastern Services Inc.*, 385 So.2d 620 (Miss.1980) (holding generally that a corporation is a separate entity from individual stockholders). It is contrary to the purpose of our state's business law to simply allow a limited liability company to be substituted for an individual.

The circuit court's reliance on the *Southern Trucking* case was erroneous as a matter of law and therefore the court's decision should be reversed by this Court.

II. Defendant/Appellee's motion to dismiss or alternatively for summary judgment with

³ As of January 1, 2011, the Revised Mississippi Limited Liability Company Act.

⁴ See also Miss. Code § 79-29-117, the present version of former § 79-29-108.

regard to plaintiff/appellee's "first" amended complaint should have been granted pursuant to *Doe v. Mississippi Blood Services* and *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure* 9(h)and the cause of action should have been dismissed with prejudice

In the first amended complaint, the Plaintiff/Appellee simply changed the named defendant "David Holmes" to "D.P. Holmes Trucking". The first amended complaint filed by Plaintiff/Appellee was nearly identical to the original complaint with only the names of "David Holmes" changed to "D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC." Further, the Plaintiff/Appellee's first amended complaint still had fictitious parties "John Does 1-5" listed as defendants as was the case with the original complaint.

A. Doe v. Mississippi Blood Services, Inc.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has addressed this identical situation in the case of *Doe v*. *Mississippi Blood Services, Inc.*, which was cited in Defendant/Appellant's motions for summary judgment and properly before the Circuit Court for consideration. *See Doe v. Mississippi Blood Service, Inc.* 704 So.2d 1016 (Miss.1997).

In *Doe*, the court examined a situation where the daughter of a woman who died of AIDS as a result of a blood transfusion brought a wrongful death action against a blood bank, the national association of blood banks and (50) unnamed defendants. *Doe*, 704 So.2d at 1017. The Plaintiff in *Doe* originally filed her wrongful death complaint against United Blood Services of Mississippi, American Association of Blood Banks and John Does 1-50. *Id*. The plaintiff then attempted to join Mississippi Blood Services, Inc. as a defendant by replacing "United Blood Services of Mississippi" with "Mississippi Blood Services, Inc." after the expiration of the statute of limitations. *Id*. In *Doe* all 50 "John Doe" defendants remained after the substitution of Mississippi Blood Services, Inc. *Id* at 1018. The *Doe* Court held that the plaintiff in *Doe* had attempted to join a new party after the expiration of the statute of limitations in the guise of a substitution under *Rule* 9(h). *Id*. The Court found that the *Doe* plaintiff's attempt at such a substitution when all John Doe defendants still remained in the amended complaint was improper. *Id*.

In the present case we are faced with the exact same situation with regard to Plaintiff/Appellee's first amended complaint. The Plaintiff/Appellee simply attempted to replace defendant "David Holmes" with "D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC". The amended complaint filed by Plaintiff/Appellee was nearly identical to the original complaint with only the names of "David Holmes" changed to "D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC." Further, the Plaintiff/Appellee's "first" amended complaint still had fictitious parties "John Does 1-5" listed as defendants as was the case with the original complaint.

Consistent with the Court's analysis and decision in the *Doe* case, the actions by the plaintiff/appellee in the instant case constitute an improper attempt to join D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC as a party beyond the applicable statute of limitations. As such, the first amended complaint naming only D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC as a defendant should be dismissed with prejudice.

B. <u>Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 9(h)</u>

The Court in *Doe* further undertook an analysis of the situation under *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure* 9(h) and found that the plaintiff failed to exercise "reasonable diligence" in determining the true parties to suit. *Id* at 1018-1019. This rule governs substitution of parties and was cited in the plaintiff/appellee's first Amended Complaint in the present case. [**R. 31/X.30**]

As indicated by Plaintiff's own amended complaint, the proposed joinder of D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC would be subject to *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 9(h)*. [R.31/X.30] Under *Rule*

-10-

9(h), the Mississippi Supreme Court has fashioned a reasonable diligence standard in determining whether a substitution of unknown parties was proper. *Womble v. Singing River Hosp.*, 618 So.2d 1252, 1266-68 (Miss.1993). The Mississippi Supreme Court has further required that the trial court's review of the diligence standard be strict. *Doe*, 704 So.2d at 1019(¶ 13). The court also requires that a plaintiff *actually* exercise a reasonably diligent inquiry. *Doe* 704 So.2d at 1019 (¶ 12).

In the present case, applying a strict standard, it is clear that there is no possible scenario wherein the Plaintiff/Appellee's actions with regard to ascertaining the identity of D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC and amending his complaint could be seen as diligent.

The plaintiff/appellee's lack of diligence began after the filing of David Holmes' answer in this matter in May of 2006. In David Holmes' answer, he denied that he was the employer of Tommy Jones, who was the driver of the vehicle involved in the accident at issue. **[R. 14-15/X. 5-6]** Reasonable diligence on the part of the Plaintiff/Appellee would have been to make some sort of inquiry as to who was actually the employer of Tommy Jones; which was not done by Plaintiff/Appellee.

Further, reasonable diligence would have included submitting interrogatories to David Holmes in an attempt to verify the actual employer. However, the Plaintiff/Appellee during the pendency of this litigation did not submit a single item of discovery.

Also reasonable diligence by the Plaintiff/Appellee would have included taking Tommy Jones' or David Holmes' deposition to determine if Holmes was the employer of Tommy Jones, in light of Holmes' denial of such in his Answer. However, the Plaintiff/Appellee did not take the deposition of either individual.

This litigation continued without any discovery, activity or inquiries as to Tommy Jones'

employer by Plaintiff/Appellee for the approximately three-year period from the filing of Plaintiff/Appellee's complaint until March of 2009, when as stated above, the plaintiff finally acknowledged that David Holmes was not the employer of Tommy Jones.

The Plaintiff/Appellee's lack of diligence continued after the identification of D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC when, after Plaintiff/Appellee was allowed to amend his complaint, it took the plaintiff/appellee almost nine months to prepare the appropriate order to present to the court despite numerous requests from Defendant/Appellant for plaintiff to do so. [**R. 55-58/X. 24-17**]

Further evidence of the Plaintiff/Appellee's lack of diligence comes in the form of a delay of almost six more months following the entry of the appropriate order by the court, before the Plaintiff/Appellee actually filed his amended complaint.

Certainly, when viewed with the strict standard required by the Mississippi Supreme Court, the Plaintiff/Appellee did not exercise reasonable diligence in discovering the identity of D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC or in amending his complaint to join D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC as a party. In the present case the Plaintiff/Appellee not only did not make a diligent inquiry, he did not make any inquiry whatsoever.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that *Rule* 9(h) is to provide a mechanism to bring in responsible parties, known, but unidentified, who can only be ascertained through the use of judicial mechanisms. It is not designed to allow tardy plaintiffs to sleep on their rights. *Womble v. Singing River Hosp.*, 618 So.2d 1252, 1266-68 (Miss.1993). In the present case it is undisputed that no judicial mechanisms were used by the plaintiff in any attempt to ascertain the true identity of Tommy Jones' employer. As such the Plaintiff/Appellee should not be allowed to benefit from their lack of discovery in this case in order to extend the statute of limitations in this matter from three years to eight.

In Anderson v. ALPS Automotive, Inc., the Mississippi Supreme Court, held that a nine and a half month delay between the discovery of a party's true identity and the amendment of the complaint to add said party was unreasonable and granted summary judgment on behalf of the new party. See Anderson v. ALPS Automotive, Inc. 51 So.3d 929, 933 (Miss.2010). In the present case there is a much lengthier delay. As stated above, the Plaintiff/Appellee could have made inquiry of the true identity of Tommy Jones' employer at any time subsequent to David Holmes denying being such in his answer. The Plaintiff/Appellee did not make any such inquiry at any time. Also following permission for the Plaintiff/Appellee to amend his complaint, the Plaintiff/Appellee delayed another fourteen months before actually filing his amended complaint.

The inactivity and delay by the Plaintiff/Appellee as outlined above clearly shows that the Plaintiff/Appellee was not diligent in obtaining the true identity of an easily identifiable party and filing a complaint naming such party and as such the statute of limitations does not extend to the filing of Plaintiff's amended complaint and the present cause of auction of which D.P. Holmes, LLC is the only named defendant should be dismissed with prejudice.

C. <u>Statute of limitations</u>

As referenced above, the statute of limitations in this matter had long been expired when the first amended complaint was filed. The present cause of action arises from an automobile accident and the alleged negligence of Tommy Jones. The statute of limitations for negligence claims such as this are governed by MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-1-49. Pursuant to this statute, all actions must be commenced within three (3) years next after the cause of such action accrued. There is no doubt that in the present case the statute of limitations began to run on the date of the accident, which was May

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