# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## SUP. CT. NO. 2011-IA-953

### **D.P. HOLMES TRUCKING, LLC**

**APPELLANT/ DEFENDANT** 

VS.

**LESTER BUTLER** 

### **APPELLEE/ PLAINTIFF**

# ON APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF MOTIONS TO DISMISS OR ALTERNATIVE FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND TO STRIKE BY THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COPIAH COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

### **BRIEF FOR APPELLEE**

Submitted by: CARROLL RHODES, ESQ., MSB # LAW OFFICES OF CARROLL RHODES POST OFFICE BOX 588 HAZLEHURST, MS 39083 TELEPHONE: (601) 894-4323 FACSIMILE: (601) 894-1464 E-MAIL: crhode@bellsouth.net

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## SUP. CT. NO. 2011-IA-953

### **D.P. HOLMES TRUCKING, LLC**

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

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The case is before this Court on the trial court's denial of the defendant's motion to dismiss<sup>8</sup> or, alternatively, for summary judgment. [R. V. 1, pp. 100-101, R. E., pp. 57-58]. The standard of review from an order denying a motion to dismiss is de novo. *Ralph Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher*, infra. The standard of review from the denial of a motion for summary judgment is de novo. *Estate of Johnson v. Chatelain*, infra. When considering a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss<sup>9</sup>, the allegations of the complaint "must be taken as true" and the motion should not be granted unless the defendant proves "beyond any doubt that the plaintiff will be unable to prove any set of facts in support of his claim." *Arnona v. Smith*, infra, at 65. When considering a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment<sup>10</sup>, the court must construe the record evidence in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion which, in this case, is the plaintiff, drawing all reasonable inferences in that party's favor. *Estate of Johnson v. Chatelain*, infra, at 686-687. When both standards of review are applied to the facts of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The third affirmative defense contained in the defendants' motion to strike plaintiff's amended complaint and answer and affirmative defenses of D. P. Holmes Trucking, LLC states that plaintiff's complaint "fails to state a claim...upon which relief can be granted..." [R. V. 1, p. 36, R. E., p. 35]. Consequently, the motion to dismiss was filed pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Miss. R. Civ. P. 56.

this case, it becomes clear that the trial court did not err in denying the defendant's motion to dismiss or motion for summary judgment.

The parties entered into an Agreed Order agreeing that plaintiff could amend his complaint by adding D. P. Holmes LLC as a defendant. [R. V. 1, pp. 29-30, R. E., pp. 28-29]. Plaintiff's second amended complaint added D. P. Holmes Trucking, LLC as a defendant. [R. V. 1, pp. 51-54, R. E., pp. 48-51]. The plaintiff alleged that the person who caused the accident and his injuries was an employee of David Holmes and D. P. Holmes Trucking, LLC. [R. V. 1, pp. 51-54, R. E., pp. 48-51]. Both David Holmes and D. P. Holmes Trucking, LLC. (R. V. 1, pp. 51-54, R. E., pp. 48-51]. Both David Holmes and D. P. Holmes Trucking, LLC were represented by the same attorneys. Those attorneys filed an answer to the original complaint within 120 days after David Holmes had been served with a copy of the complaint. [R. V. 1, pp. 14-17, R. E., pp. 5-8]. The original complaint and second amended complaint grew out of the same conduct, transaction, and occurrence. D. P. Holmes Trucking, LLC was aware of plaintiff's lawsuit by May 24, 2006. [R. V. 1, pp. 14-17, R. E., pp. 5-8]. The trial court specifically found that the defendants were "not prejudiced by the [a]mended [c]omplaint." [R. V. 1, p. 100, R. E., p. 57]. Therefore, plaintiff's amended complaint related back to his original complaint and was not barred by the statute of limitations. *Wilner v. White*, infra, at 323; *Ralph Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher*, infra; Miss. R. Civ. P. 15(c).

### THE ARGUMENT

### a. The Standard of Review.

This case is before the Court on the defendants' motion to dismiss, or alternatively, for summary judgment. "A motion to dismiss under Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) raises an issue of law." *Arnona v. Smith*, 749 So. 2d 63, at 65 (Miss. 1999). This Court applies a de novo standard of review when considering such a motion. *Arnona v. Smith*, supra, at 65; *Ralph Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher*,

926 So. 2d 890 (Miss. 2006). The burden is on the moving party to show beyond doubt that the plaintiff will not be able "to prove any set of facts in support of his claim." *Arnona v. Smith*, supra, at 65; *Ralph Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher*, supra. When considering the motion, "the allegations of the complaint must be taken as true." *Arnona v. Smith*, supra, at 65.

When considering a motion for summary judgment, the Court applies the same standard of review as the trial court. *Estate of Johnson v. Chatelain*, 943 So. 2d 684, at 686-687 (Miss. 2006). Summary judgment is appropriate only where there is no genuine issue of material fact, *Estate of Johnson v. Chatelain*, supra, at 686, and the plaintiff has failed to present evidence to support an essential element of his claim. *Bullard v. Guardian Life Insurance Company of America*, 941 So. 2d 812, 814 (Miss. 2006) (*en banc*). "The burden of demonstrating that there is no genuine issue of material fact falls upon the party requesting the summary judgment." *Estate of Johnson v. Chatelain*, supra, at 686, ¶ 4.

A Court must review all of the record evidence including the "pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc.-in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion for summary judgment is made." *Estate of Johnson v. Chatelain*, supra, at 686-687, ¶ 5. A motion for "summary judgment is not a substitute for the trial of disputed fact issues." *Willis v. Mississippi Farm Bureau Mutual Ins. Co.*, 481 So. 2d 256, 258 (Miss. 1985). This Court has defined a material fact as "one which resolves any 'of the issues, properly raised by the parties." *Strantz v. Pinion*, 652 So. 2d 738, at 741 (Miss. 1995) (en banc), *quoting, Stegall v. WTWV, Inc.*, 609 So. 2d 348, at 351 (1992).

When the complaint and record evidence are construed, as true and in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, the party opposing the motion, it becomes clear that the trial court did not

err in denying the defendant's motion to dismiss or motion for summary judgment.

# b. The Trial Court Did Not Err by Allowing the Plaintiff to Amend His Complaint to Add a Party Defendant and Allowing the Amended Complaint to Relate Back.

The defendants argue that the trial court erred by allowing plaintiff to file his second amended complaint adding D. P. Holmes Trucking, LLC as a defendant. However, the defendant, David Holmes, agreed to the amendment. [R. V. 1, pp. 29-30, R. E., pp. 28-29]. David Holmes and D. P. Holmes Trucking, LLC were represented by the same attorneys. Furthermore, "when justice so requires, leave to amend shall be freely given." *Wilner v. White*, 929 So. 2d 315, at 319 (Miss. 2006), citing, Miss. R. Civ. P. 15(a). The trial court found that justice required the amendment. The trial court noted that plaintiff mistakenly named David Holmes as the defendant instead of D. P. Holmes Trucking, LLC. [R. V. 1, p. 100, R. E., p. 57]. The trial court stated that "[t]he Mississippi Supreme Court has long recognized that the doctrine of misnomer allows parties to correct 'party-name' errors at any time or any stage of the proceedings if doing so would not result in prejudice." [R. V. 1, p. 100, R. E., p. 57]. The trial court cited *Trucking Service, Inc. v. Miss. Sand and Gravel, Inc.*, 433 So. 2d 321 (Miss. 1986) as authority for its decision. In other words, the trial court found that justice required the amendment. 1<sup>11</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>In support of his motion for substitution of parties, or in the alternative, to amed his complaint, the plaintiff argued:

The plaintiff would show that a companion case to the incident matter is an action that was styled <u>Howard Coney v. David Holmes and John Does 1-5</u>, In the Circuit Court of Copiah County, Mississippi, Civil Action No. 2006-117. The plaintiff would show that in the course of the litigation of these two matters, the defendant moved to consolidate these cases, but that subsequent to a hearing thereo, the parties agreed on mediation of both cases. Said mediation was accomplished by counsel for the parties and at the date of time of said mediation, the matter of <u>Howard Coney v. David Holmes and John Does 1-5</u>, Civil Action No. 2006-117, was compromised and settled and subsequent

# [R. V. 1, p. 100, R. E., p. 57].

Although the defendant, David Holmes, agreed to the amendment, he and co-defendant, D. P. Holmes Trucking, LLC, now argue that the amendment should not relate back under Miss. R. Civ. P. 15(c). However, this Court has held that an amended complaint relates back to the date the original complaint was filed if the requirements of Miss. R. Civ. P. 15(c) have been met. *Wilner v. White*, supra, at 323. "[T]hose requirement are:

(1) the claim in the amended complaint must arise out of the same conduct, transaction, or occurrence as that set forth in the original complaint; (2) the newly-named defendant must have received notice of the action within the period provided by <u>Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(h)</u> such that the party will not be prejudiced; and (3) the newly-named defendant must have or should have known that an action would be brought against him but for a mistake existing as to the parties' identities.

*Wilner v. White*, supra, at 323. When the allegations of plaintiff's second amended complaint are considered as true and the record evidence is construed in the light most favorable to him, drawing all reasonable inferences in his favor, it is apparent that plaintiff met the requirements of Miss. R. Civ. P. 15(c). The claim in the complaint and second amended complaint arose out of the same conduct and occurrence. D. P. Holmes Trucking, LLC must have received notice because its attorney filed an answer for David Holmes within 120 days after the original complaint was filed.

[R. V. 1, p. 22, R. E., p. 17]. The defendants did not dispute these allegations.

thereto a full, final and complete release of all claims was executed and a final order of dismissal with prejudice was entered by this Honorable Court. The mediation was accomlished on or about July 6, 2007. The plaintiff would further show that as part of the settlement entered in the <u>Conev v. Holmes, et al.</u> matter, a release and settlement agreement was executed by Howard Coney 'To and in favor of David Holmes; D.P. Holmes Trucking, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company; Tommy Jones; Acceptance Indemnity Insurance Company....

Furthermore, D. P. Holmes Trucking, LLC should have known that but for a mistake existing as to the parties' identities, the company would have been named as a defendant in the original complaint. Therefore, the requirements or Miss. R. Civ. P. 15(c) were met in this case and the second amended complaint related back to the date the original complaint was filed. *Wilner v. White*, supra, at 323. As such, the trial court did not err in allowing plaintiff to file his second amended complaint.

### **CONCLUSION**

On the basis of the foregoing facts and authorities, the Court should affirm the lower court and remand the case to proceed to trial.